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PJT Partners Inc. was formed in connection with certain merger and spin-off transactions whereby the 
financial and strategic advisory services, restructuring and reorganization advisory services and Park Hill Group 
businesses of Blackstone Inc. (“Blackstone” or our “former Parent”) were combined with PJT Capital LP, a 
financial advisory firm founded by Paul J. Taubman in 2013 (together with its then affiliates, “PJT Capital”), and the 
combined business was distributed to Blackstone’s unitholders to create PJT Partners Inc., a stand-alone, 
independent publicly traded company. Throughout this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we refer to this transaction 
as the “spin-off.” PJT Partners Inc. is a holding company and its only material asset is its controlling equity interest 
in PJT Partners Holdings LP, a holding partnership that holds the Company’s operating subsidiaries, and certain 
cash and cash equivalents it may hold from time to time. As the sole general partner of PJT Partners Holdings LP, 
PJT Partners Inc. operates and controls all of the business and affairs of PJT Partners Holdings LP and its operating 
subsidiaries.

In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, unless the context requires otherwise, the words “PJT Partners Inc.” 
refers to PJT Partners Inc., and “PJT Partners,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to PJT Partners Inc., 
together with its consolidated subsidiaries, including PJT Partners Holdings LP and its operating subsidiaries.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain material presented herein contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of 
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 
“Exchange Act”). Forward-looking statements include certain information concerning future results of operations, 
business strategies, acquisitions, financing plans, competitive position, potential growth opportunities, potential 
operating performance improvements, the effects of competition and the effects of future legislation or regulations. 
Forward-looking statements include all statements that are not historical facts and can be identified by the use of 
forward-looking terminology such as the words “believe,” “expect,” “opportunity,” “plan,” “intend,” “anticipate,” 
“estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue,” “may,” “might,” “should,” “could” or the negative of these terms or 
similar expressions.

Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead, they are 
based only on our current beliefs, expectations, and assumptions regarding the future of our business, future plans 
and strategies, projections, anticipated events and trends, the economy, and other future conditions. Because 
forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks, and changes in 
circumstances that are difficult to predict, many of which are outside our control. Our actual results and financial 
condition may differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements. Therefore, you should not 
place undue reliance upon any of these forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause our actual 
results and financial condition to differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements include, 
among others, the following: (a) changes in governmental regulations and policies; (b) cyberattacks, security 
vulnerabilities, and internet disruptions, including breaches of data security and privacy leaks, data loss, and 
business interruptions; (c) failures of our computer systems or communication systems, including as a result of a 
catastrophic event and the use of remote work environments and virtual platforms; (d) the impact of catastrophic 
events, including business disruptions, pandemics, reductions in employment and an increase in business failures on 
(1) the U.S. and the global economy, and (2) our employees and our ability to provide services to our clients and 
respond to their needs; (e) the failure of third-party service providers to perform their functions; and (f) volatility in 
the political and economic environment, including as a result of inflation, rising interest rates, international conflict, 
and recent events affecting the financial services industry. 
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Any of these factors, as well as such other factors discussed in the “Risk Factors” section of our Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, filed with the United States Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”), as such factors may be updated from time to time in our periodic filings with the SEC, 
accessible on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov, could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed in 
forward-looking statements. There may be other risks and uncertainties that we are unable to predict at this time or 
that are not currently expected to have a material adverse effect on our business. Any such risks could cause our 
results to differ materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements.

Website Disclosure

We use our website (www.pjtpartners.com) as a channel of distribution of Company information. The 
information we post may be deemed material. Accordingly, investors should monitor the website, in addition to 
following our press releases, SEC filings and public conference calls and webcasts. In addition, you may 
automatically receive e-mail alerts and other information about PJT Partners when you enroll your e-mail address by 
visiting the “Investor Relations” page of our website at ir.pjtpartners.com. Although we refer to our website in this 
report, the contents of our website are not included or incorporated by reference into this report. All references to 
our website in this report are intended to be inactive textual references only.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PJT Partners Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition (Unaudited)

(Dollars in Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data)

June 30,
2023

December 31,
2022

Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 151,496 $ 173,235
Investments (at fair value) 74,144 50,242
Accounts Receivable (net of allowance for credit losses of $2,977 and
   $1,945 at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively) 333,059 317,751
Intangible Assets, Net 15,420 17,880
Goodwill 172,725 172,725
Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net 29,358 30,693
Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets 110,654 119,025
Other Assets 129,327 99,929
Deferred Tax Asset, Net 70,919 69,172

Total Assets $ 1,087,102 $ 1,050,652
Liabilities and Equity
Accrued Compensation and Benefits $ 123,190 $ 83,920
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities 25,178 24,782
Operating Lease Liabilities 126,210 135,627
Amount Due Pursuant to Tax Receivable Agreement 32,244 30,315
Taxes Payable 3,844 3,451
Deferred Revenue 11,245 12,999

Total Liabilities 321,911 291,094
Commitments and Contingencies
Equity

Class A Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share (3,000,000,000
   shares authorized; 32,251,216 and 31,062,575 issued at 
   June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 24,220,466 and 
   24,479,286 outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
   respectively) 322 310
Class B Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share (1,000,000
   shares authorized; 140 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023;
   158 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022) — —
Additional Paid-In Capital 541,750 502,585
Retained Earnings 88,149 60,969
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (562) (2,274)
Treasury Stock at Cost (8,030,750 and 6,583,289 shares at June 30,
   2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively) (480,552) (376,484)

Total PJT Partners Inc. Equity 149,107 185,106
Non-Controlling Interests 616,084 574,452

Total Equity 765,191 759,558
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 1,087,102 $ 1,050,652

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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PJT Partners Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)

(Dollars in Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data)

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenues

Advisory Fees $ 323,794 $ 186,649 $ 491,884 $ 368,307
Placement Fees 20,028 49,482 47,613 109,833
Interest Income and Other 2,455 (2,990) 6,768 1,320

Total Revenues 346,277 233,141 546,265 479,460
Expenses

Compensation and Benefits 246,614 150,587 379,657 309,819
Occupancy and Related 9,920 8,658 19,931 17,600
Travel and Related 8,314 7,977 15,286 13,030
Professional Fees 11,454 7,226 18,381 14,277
Communications and Information Services 3,761 4,241 7,838 8,664
Depreciation and Amortization 3,597 4,094 7,040 8,401
Other Expenses 8,448 6,670 14,770 13,833

Total Expenses 292,108 189,453 462,903 385,624
Income Before Provision for Taxes 54,169 43,688 83,362 93,836
Provision for Taxes 13,117 8,495 14,324 14,175
Net Income 41,052 35,193 69,038 79,661
Net Income Attributable to 
   Non-Controlling Interests 18,911 16,025 29,561 34,789
Net Income Attributable to PJT Partners Inc. $ 22,141 $ 19,168 $ 39,477 $ 44,872
Net Income Per Share of Class A Common Stock

Basic $ 0.88 $ 0.76 $ 1.56 $ 1.79
Diluted $ 0.86 $ 0.74 $ 1.53 $ 1.74

Weighted-Average Shares of Class A Common 
   Stock Outstanding

Basic 25,238,144 25,141,339 25,234,983 25,065,684
Diluted 26,333,261 26,421,087 26,625,890 26,486,899

 
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.



6

PJT Partners Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited)

(Dollars in Thousands)

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Net Income $ 41,052 $ 35,193 $ 69,038 $ 79,661
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax —
   Currency Translation Adjustment 1,677 (3,659) 3,065 (5,095)
Comprehensive Income 42,729 31,534 72,103 74,566
Less:

Comprehensive Income Attributable to Non-
   Controlling Interests 19,652 14,377 30,914 32,492

Comprehensive Income Attributable to PJT Partners Inc. $ 23,077 $ 17,157 $ 41,189 $ 42,074

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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PJT Partners Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Unaudited)

(Dollars in Thousands, Except Share Data)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2023
Shares Accumulated

Class A Class B Class A Class B Additional Other Non-
Common Common Treasury Common Common Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Treasury Controlling

Stock Stock Stock Stock Stock Capital Earnings Loss Stock Interests Total
Balance at March 31, 2023 32,238,601 159 (7,438,407) $ 322 $ — $ 531,034 $ 72,076 $ (1,498) $ (442,664) $ 578,879 $ 738,149

Net Income — — — — — — 22,141 — — 18,911 41,052
Other Comprehensive Income — — — — — — — 936 — 741 1,677
Dividends Declared ($0.25 Per Share 
   of Class A Common Stock) — — — — — — (6,068) — — — (6,068)
Tax Distributions — — — — — — — — — (12,149) (12,149)
Equity-Based Compensation — — — — — 44,596 — — — 4,604 49,200
Net Share Settlement — — — — — (175) — — — — (175)
Deliveries of Vested Shares of
   Class A Common Stock 12,615 — — — — — — — — — —
Change in Ownership Interest — (19) — — — (33,705) — — — 25,098 (8,607)
Treasury Stock Purchases — — (592,343) — — — — — (37,888) — (37,888)

Balance at June 30, 2023 32,251,216 140 (8,030,750) $ 322 $ — $ 541,750 $ 88,149 $ (562) $ (480,552) $ 616,084 $ 765,191

Six Months Ended June 30, 2023
Shares Accumulated

Class A Class B Class A Class B Additional Other Non-
Common Common Treasury Common Common Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Treasury Controlling

Stock Stock Stock Stock Stock Capital Earnings Loss Stock Interests Total
Balance at December 31, 2022 31,062,575 158 (6,583,289) $ 310 $ — $ 502,585 $ 60,969 $ (2,274) $ (376,484) $ 574,452 $ 759,558

Net Income — — — — — — 39,477 — — 29,561 69,038
Other Comprehensive Income — — — — — — — 1,712 — 1,353 3,065
Dividends Declared ($0.50 Per Share of
   Class A Common Stock) — — — — — — (12,297) — — — (12,297)
Tax Distributions — — — — — — — — — (12,149) (12,149)
Equity-Based Compensation — — — — — 88,672 — — — 9,324 97,996
Net Share Settlement — — — — — (16,514) — — — — (16,514)
Deliveries of Vested Shares of
   Class A Common Stock 1,188,641 — — 12 — (12) — — — — —
Change in Ownership Interest — (18) — — — (32,981) — — — 13,543 (19,438)
Treasury Stock Purchases — — (1,447,461) — — — — — (104,068) — (104,068)

Balance at June 30, 2023 32,251,216 140 (8,030,750) $ 322 $ — $ 541,750 $ 88,149 $ (562) $ (480,552) $ 616,084 $ 765,191

(continued)
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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PJT Partners Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Unaudited)

(Dollars in Thousands, Except Share Data)

Three Months Ended June 30, 2022
Shares Accumulated

Class A Class B Class A Class B Additional Other Non-
Common Common Treasury Common Common Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Treasury Controlling

Stock Stock Stock Stock Stock Capital Earnings Loss Stock Interests Total
Balance at March 31, 2022 30,593,822 164 (5,815,973) $ 305 $ — $ 438,634 $ 14,503 $ (156) $ (323,569) $ 525,319 $ 655,036

Net Income — — — — — — 19,168 — — 16,025 35,193
Other Comprehensive Loss — — — — — — — (2,011) — (1,648) (3,659)
Dividends Declared ($0.25 Per Share of
   Class A Common Stock) — — — — — — (6,098) — — — (6,098)
Tax Distributions — — — — — — — — — (7,310) (7,310)
Equity-Based Compensation — — — — — 30,811 — — — 5,490 36,301
Net Share Settlement — — — — — (20) — — — — (20)
Deliveries of Vested Shares of
   Class A Common Stock 3,758 — — — — — — — — — —
Change in Ownership Interest — (3) — — — (23,464) — — — 19,029 (4,435)
Treasury Stock Purchases — — (404,076) — — — — — (27,357) — (27,357)

Balance at June 30, 2022 30,597,580 161 (6,220,049) $ 305 $ — $ 445,961 $ 27,573 $ (2,167) $ (350,926) $ 556,905 $ 677,651

Six Months Ended June 30, 2022
Shares Accumulated

Class A Class B Class A Class B Additional Retained Other Non-
Common Common Treasury Common Common Paid-In Earnings Comprehensive Treasury Controlling

Stock Stock Stock Stock Stock Capital (Deficit) Income (Loss) Stock Interests Total
Balance at December 31, 2021 29,248,457 159 (4,929,044) $ 292 $ — $ 391,242 $ (4,933) $ 631 $ (267,000) $ 517,340 $ 637,572

Net Income — — — — — — 44,872 — — 34,789 79,661
Other Comprehensive Loss — — — — — — — (2,798) — (2,297) (5,095)
Dividends Declared ($0.50 Per Share of
   Class A Common Stock) — — — — — — (12,366) — — — (12,366)
Tax Distributions — — — — — — — — — (7,310) (7,310)
Equity-Based Compensation — — — — — 84,528 — — — 10,842 95,370
Net Share Settlement — — — — — (15,387) — — — — (15,387)
Deliveries of Vested Shares of
  Class A Common Stock 1,349,123 — — 13 — (13) — — — — —
Change in Ownership Interest — 2 — — — (14,409) — — — 3,541 (10,868)
Treasury Stock Purchases — — (1,291,005) — — — — — (83,926) — (83,926)

Balance at June 30, 2022 30,597,580 161 (6,220,049) $ 305 $ — $ 445,961 $ 27,573 $ (2,167) $ (350,926) $ 556,905 $ 677,651

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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PJT Partners Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

(Dollars in Thousands)
 

Six Months Ended June 30,
2023 2022

Operating Activities
Net Income $ 69,038 $ 79,661
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by
   Operating Activities

Equity-Based Compensation Expense 97,996 95,370
Depreciation and Amortization Expense 7,040 8,401
Amortization of Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets 11,871 10,327
Provision for Credit Losses 2,574 1,687
Other 791 4,512

Cash Flows Due to Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities
Accounts Receivable (16,560) (19,871)
Other Assets (28,976) (19,606)
Accrued Compensation and Benefits 38,294 (28,998)
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities (72) (2,529)
Operating Lease Liabilities (12,949) (11,268)
Taxes Payable 335 (870)
Deferred Revenue (1,767) 660
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 167,615 117,476

Investing Activities
Purchases of Investments (78,845) (54,164)
Proceeds from Sales and Maturities of Investments 54,797 19,979
Purchases of Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements (2,874) (1,752)
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (26,922) (35,937)

Financing Activities
Dividends (12,297) (12,366)
Tax Distributions (12,149) (7,310)
Proceeds from Revolving Credit Facility 15,000 42,000
Payments on Revolving Credit Facility (15,000) (42,000)
Employee Taxes Paid for Shares Withheld (16,514) (15,387)
Cash-Settled Exchanges of Partnership Units (19,443) (10,995)
Treasury Stock Purchases (104,068) (83,926)
Payments Pursuant to Tax Receivable Agreement (29) (559)
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (164,500) (130,543)

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,068 (4,158)
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (21,739) (53,162)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period 173,235 200,481
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period $ 151,496 $ 147,319
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flows Information

Payments for Income Taxes, Net of Refunds Received $ 4,569 $ 4,770
Payments for Interest $ 20 $ 133

 
See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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1. ORGANIZATION

PJT Partners Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Company” or “PJT Partners”) offer a unique portfolio 
of advisory services designed to help clients achieve their strategic objectives.

On October 1, 2015, Blackstone Inc. (“Blackstone” or the “former Parent”) distributed on a pro rata basis to 
its common unitholders all of the issued and outstanding shares of Class A common stock of PJT Partners Inc. held 
by it. This pro rata distribution is referred to as the “Distribution.” The separation of the PJT Partners business from 
Blackstone and related transactions, including the Distribution, the internal reorganization that preceded the 
Distribution and the acquisition by PJT Partners of PJT Capital LP (together with its general partner and their 
respective subsidiaries, “PJT Capital”) that occurred substantially concurrently with the Distribution, is referred to 
as the “spin-off.”

PJT Partners Inc. is the sole general partner of PJT Partners Holdings LP. PJT Partners Inc. owns less than 
100% of the economic interest in PJT Partners Holdings LP, but has 100% of the voting power and controls the 
management of PJT Partners Holdings LP. As of June 30, 2023, the non-controlling interest of PJT Partners 
Holdings LP was 37.5%. As the sole general partner of PJT Partners Holdings LP, PJT Partners Inc. operates and 
controls all of the business and affairs and consolidates the financial results of PJT Partners Holdings LP and its 
operating subsidiaries. The Company operates through the following subsidiaries: PJT Partners LP, PJT Partners 
(UK) Limited, PJT Partners (HK) Limited, PJT Partners Park Hill (Spain) A.V., S.A.U., PJT Partners (Germany) 
GmbH, PJT Partners (France) SAS and PJT Partners Japan K.K. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The Company prepared the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and the instructions 
to Form 10-Q. The condensed consolidated financial statements, including these notes, are unaudited and exclude 
some of the disclosures required in annual financial statements. Management believes it has made all necessary 
adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring items) so that the condensed consolidated financial statements are 
presented fairly and that estimates made in preparing its condensed consolidated financial statements are reasonable 
and prudent. The operating results presented for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results that may 
be expected for any other interim period or for the entire year. These condensed consolidated financial statements 
should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Intercompany transactions have been eliminated for all periods presented.

For a comprehensive disclosure of the Company’s significant accounting policies, see Note 2. “Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies” in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in “Part II. Item 8. Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2022.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

Cash and Cash Equivalents include short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and have original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase. Cash and Cash 
Equivalents are maintained in U.S. and non-U.S. bank accounts and are held at seven financial institutions. Also 
included in Cash and Cash Equivalents are amounts held in bank accounts that are subject to advance notification to 
withdraw, which totaled $0.6 million as of each of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022. 

Treasury securities with original maturities greater than three months when purchased are classified as 
Investments in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.
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Reclassifications 

Certain balances on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations in the prior period have been 
reclassified to conform to their current presentation. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, this resulted 
in a reclassification of $1.3 million and $1.9 million, respectively, from Other Expenses to Travel and Related. This 
reclassification had no impact on net income or stockholders’ equity. 

3. REVENUES FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The following table provides a disaggregation of revenues recognized from contracts with customers for the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Advisory Fees $ 323,794 $ 186,649 $ 491,884 $ 368,307
Placement Fees 20,028 49,482 47,613 109,833
Interest Income from Placement Fees and Other 3,952 2,035 8,222 4,157

Revenues from Contracts with Customers $ 347,774 $ 238,166 $ 547,719 $ 482,297

Remaining Performance Obligations and Revenue Recognized from Past Performance

As of June 30, 2023, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations yet to 
be satisfied was $25.2 million and the Company generally expects to recognize this revenue within the next twelve 
months. Such amounts relate to the Company’s performance obligations of providing advisory and placement 
services.

The Company recognized revenue of $6.8 million and $10.4 million for the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2023, respectively, and $21.0 million and $45.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, 
respectively, related to performance obligations that were fully satisfied in prior periods, primarily due to constraints 
on variable consideration in prior periods being resolved. Such amounts related primarily to the provision of 
corporate and fund placement services. The majority of Fee Revenue recognized by the Company during the three 
and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 was predominantly related to performance obligations that were 
partially satisfied in prior periods.

Contract Balances

There were no significant impairments related to contract balances during the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2023 and 2022.

For the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, $10.4 million and $9.9 million, respectively, of revenue 
was recognized that was included in the beginning balance of Deferred Revenue, primarily related to the Company’s 
performance obligation of standing ready to perform. In certain contracts, the Company receives customer expense 
advances, which are also considered to be contract liabilities. As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the 
Company recorded $2.2 million and $1.8 million, respectively, in Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other 
Liabilities in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition primarily related to expense advances.
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4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

Changes in the allowance for credit losses consist of the following:

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022
Beginning Balance $ 1,945 $ 1,853
Provision for Credit Losses 2,574 1,687
Write-offs (1,542) (1,372)
Ending Balance $ 2,977 $ 2,168

Included in Accounts Receivable, Net is accrued interest of $3.4 million and $2.7 million as of June 30, 2023 
and December 31, 2022, respectively, related to placement fees.

Included in Accounts Receivable, Net are long-term receivables of $125.8 million and $133.3 million as of 
June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, related to placement fees that are generally paid in installments 
over a period of three to four years.

The Company does not have any long-term receivables on non-accrual status. Of receivables that originated as 
long-term, there were $1.1 million and $6.5 million as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, which 
were outstanding more than 90 days. The Company’s allowance for credit losses with respect to long-term 
receivables was $0.5 million as of each of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022. 

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible Assets, Net consists of the following:

June 30,
2023

December 31,
2022

Finite-Lived Intangible Assets
Customer Relationships $ 61,276 $ 61,276
Trade Name 9,800 9,800

Total Intangible Assets 71,076 71,076
Accumulated Amortization

Customer Relationships (47,139) (44,964)
Trade Name (8,517) (8,232)

Total Accumulated Amortization (55,656) (53,196)
Intangible Assets, Net $ 15,420 $ 17,880

Amortization expense was $1.2 million and $2.5 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, 
respectively, and $1.9 million and $3.8 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively. 

Amortization of Intangible Assets held at June 30, 2023 is expected to be $2.5 million for the remainder of the 
year ending December 31, 2023; $4.9 million the year ending December 31, 2024; $4.8 million for the year ending 
December 31, 2025; and $3.3 million for the year ending December 31, 2026.
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6. FURNITURE, EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS

Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net consists of the following:

June 30,
2023

December 31,
2022

Leasehold Improvements $ 56,782 $ 54,555
Furniture and Fixtures 19,326 18,811
Office Equipment 6,436 5,533
Total Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements 82,544 78,899
Accumulated Depreciation (53,186) (48,206)
Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net $ 29,358 $ 30,693

Depreciation expense was $2.4 million and $4.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, 
respectively, and $2.2 million and $4.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively.

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following tables summarize the valuation of the Company’s investments by the fair value hierarchy:

June 30, 2023
Level I Level II Level III Total

Treasury Securities $ — $ 104,208 $ — $ 104,208

December 31, 2022
Level I Level II Level III Total

Treasury Securities $ — $ 50,242 $ — $ 50,242

Investments in Treasury securities were included in both Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments as of 
June 30, 2023 and in Investments as of December 31, 2022 in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Condition.

8. INCOME TAXES

The following table summarizes the Company’s tax position:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Income Before Provision for Taxes $ 54,169 $ 43,688 $ 83,362 $ 93,836
Provision for Taxes $ 13,117 $ 8,495 $ 14,324 $ 14,175
Effective Income Tax Rate 24.2% 19.4% 17.2% 15.1%

The Company’s effective tax rate differed from the U.S. federal statutory tax rate for the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2023 primarily due to partnership income not being subject to U.S. corporate income taxes and 
permanent differences related to compensation.

The Company had no unrecognized tax benefits as of June 30, 2023.

During the quarter ended March 31, 2023, the Company's holding partnership, PJT Partners Holdings LP, 
received a notice from the Internal Revenue Service that its Form 1065, U.S. Return of Partnership Income, was 
selected for examination for the tax year ended December 31, 2020. The Company currently does not expect the 
results of the audit to have any material impact on its condensed consolidated financial statements.
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9. NET INCOME PER SHARE OF CLASS A COMMON STOCK

Basic and diluted net income per share of Class A common stock for the three and six months ended June 30, 
2023 and 2022 is presented below:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Numerator:
Net Income Attributable to Shares of Class A
   Common Stock — Basic $ 22,141 $ 19,168 $ 39,477 $ 44,872
Incremental Net Income from Dilutive Securities 533 476 1,145 1,261
Net Income Attributable to Shares of Class A
   Common Stock — Diluted $ 22,674 $ 19,644 $ 40,622 $ 46,133
Denominator:
Weighted-Average Shares of Class A Common
   Stock Outstanding — Basic 25,238,144 25,141,339 25,234,983 25,065,684
Weighted-Average Number of Incremental Shares from
   Unvested RSUs and Partnership Units 1,095,117 1,279,748 1,390,907 1,421,215
Weighted-Average Shares of Class A Common
   Stock Outstanding — Diluted 26,333,261 26,421,087 26,625,890 26,486,899
Net Income Per Share of Class A Common Stock

Basic $ 0.88 $ 0.76 $ 1.56 $ 1.79
Diluted $ 0.86 $ 0.74 $ 1.53 $ 1.74

The ownership interests of holders (other than PJT Partners Inc.) of the common units of partnership interest 
in PJT Partners Holdings LP (“Partnership Units”) may be exchanged for PJT Partners Inc. Class A common stock 
on a one-for-one basis, subject to applicable vesting and transfer restrictions. If all Partnership Units were 
exchanged for Class A common stock, weighted-average Class A common stock outstanding would be 39,869,008 
and 39,932,925 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, excluding unvested restricted stock 
units (“RSUs”). In computing the dilutive effect, if any, which the aforementioned exchange would have on net 
income per share, net income attributable to holders of Class A common stock would be adjusted due to the 
elimination of the non-controlling interests associated with the Partnership Units (including any tax impact). For the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2023, there were 14,630,864 and 14,697,942 weighted-average Partnership 
Units, respectively, that were anti-dilutive. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, there were 15,131,311 
and 15,163,801 weighted-average Partnership Units, respectively, that were anti-dilutive.

Share Repurchase Program

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company repurchased 1.4 million shares of the Company’s 
Class A common stock at an average price per share of $71.87, or $104.0 million in aggregate, pursuant to the share 
repurchase program. As of June 30, 2023, the Company’s remaining repurchase authorization was $69.7 million. 

10. EQUITY-BASED AND OTHER DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Overview

On May 24, 2023, the Company adopted the Second Amended and Restated PJT Partners Inc. Omnibus Plan 
(the “PJT Equity Plan”), which amended the Amended and Restated 2019 PJT Partners Inc. Omnibus Plan. The PJT 
Equity Plan authorizes an additional 16 million shares of Class A common stock for the purpose of providing 
incentive compensation measured by reference to the value of the Company’s Class A common stock or Partnership 
Units. The PJT Equity Plan provides for the granting of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock 
appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, partnership interests and other stock-based or cash-based 
awards. Since October 1, 2015, the Company has authorized 33 million shares of Class A common stock for 
issuance of new awards under the PJT Equity Plan. The Company intends to use PJT Partners’ Class A common 
stock to satisfy vested awards under the PJT Equity Plan.
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The following table represents equity-based compensation expense and the related income tax benefit for the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Equity-Based Compensation Expense $ 49,200 $ 36,301 $ 97,996 $ 95,370
Income Tax Benefit $ 6,855 $ 4,595 $ 13,558 $ 12,617

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes activity related to unvested RSUs for the six months ended June 30, 2023:

Restricted Stock Units
Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Number of Fair Value

Units (in dollars)
Balance, December 31, 2022 4,181,075 $ 65.58
Granted 2,258,383 77.65
Dividends Reinvested on RSUs (34,565) 56.67
Forfeited (18,587) 72.18
Vested (1,330,508) 59.98
Balance, June 30, 2023 5,055,798 $ 72.48

As of June 30, 2023, there was $206.1 million of estimated unrecognized compensation expense related to 
unvested RSU awards. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years. The 
Company assumes a forfeiture rate of 1.0% to 7.0% annually based on expected turnover and periodically reassesses 
this rate. The weighted-average grant date fair value with respect to RSUs granted for the six months ended June 30, 
2022 was $63.73.

RSU Awards with Both Service and Market Conditions

The following table summarizes activity related to unvested RSU awards with both a service and market 
condition for the six months ended June 30, 2023:

RSU Awards with
Both Service and Market

Conditions
Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Number of Fair Value

Units (in dollars)
Balance, December 31, 2022 1,534,012 $ 41.98
Dividends Reinvested on RSUs 161 34.22
Balance, June 30, 2023 1,534,173 $ 41.98

As of June 30, 2023, there was $27.0 million of estimated unrecognized compensation expense related to RSU 
awards with both a service and market condition. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average 
period of 1.8 years. The Company assumes a forfeiture rate of 4.0% to 7.0% annually based on expected turnover 
and periodically reassesses this rate. The weighted-average grant date fair value with respect to RSUs with both a 
service and market condition granted for the six months ended June 30, 2022 was $41.97.
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Partnership Units

The following table summarizes activity related to unvested Partnership Units for the six months ended 
June 30, 2023:

Partnership Units
Weighted-
Average

Number of Grant Date
Partnership Fair Value

Units (in dollars)
Balance, December 31, 2022 178,067 $ 60.62
Granted 36,726 74.57
Vested (74,885) 54.19
Balance, June 30, 2023 139,908 $ 67.73

As of June 30, 2023, there was $6.9 million of estimated unrecognized compensation expense related to 
unvested Partnership Units. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.2 years. The 
Company assumes a forfeiture rate of 4.0% annually based on expected turnover and periodically reassesses this 
rate. The weighted-average grant date fair value with respect to Partnership Units granted for the six months ended 
June 30, 2022 was $59.84.

Partnership Unit Awards with Both Service and Market Conditions

The following table summarizes activity related to unvested Partnership Unit awards with both a service and 
market condition for the six months ended June 30, 2023:

Partnership Unit Awards with
Both Service and Market

Conditions
Weighted-
Average

Number of Grant Date
Partnership Fair Value

Units (in dollars)
Balance, December 31, 2022 1,107,768 $ 39.10
Balance, June 30, 2023 1,107,768 $ 39.10

As of June 30, 2023, there was $19.5 million of estimated unrecognized compensation expense related to 
Partnership Unit awards with both a service and market condition. This cost is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted-average period of 1.9 years. The Company assumes a forfeiture rate of 4.0% annually based on expected 
turnover and periodically reassesses this rate. The weighted-average grant date fair value with respect to Partnership 
Units with both a service and market condition granted for the six months ended June 30, 2022 was $39.10.

Units Expected to Vest

The following unvested units, after expected forfeitures, as of June 30, 2023, are expected to vest:

Weighted-
Average

Service Period
Units in Years

Restricted Stock Units 6,186,330 1.8
Partnership Units 1,197,052 1.8
Total Equity-Based Awards 7,383,382 1.8
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Deferred Cash Compensation

The Company has periodically issued deferred cash compensation in connection with annual incentive 
compensation as well as other hiring or retention related awards. These awards typically vest over a period of one to 
four years. Compensation expense related to deferred cash awards was $8.7 million and $19.0 million for the three 
and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, and $7.6 million and $14.6 million for the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2022, respectively. As of June 30, 2023, there was $76.3 million of unrecognized compensation 
expense related to these awards. The weighted-average period over which this compensation cost is expected to be 
recognized is 2.4 years.

11. LEASES

The components of lease expense were as follows:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Operating Lease Cost $ 7,344 $ 6,868 $ 14,698 $ 13,592
Variable Lease Cost 1,084 1,083 2,233 2,087
Sublease Income (194) (196) (389) (406)
Total Lease Cost $ 8,234 $ 7,755 $ 16,542 $ 15,273

Supplemental information related to the Company’s operating leases was as follows:

Six Months Ended June 30,
2023 2022

Cash Paid for Amounts Included in Measurement of Lease Liabilities
Operating Cash Flows from Operating Leases $ 12,949 $ 11,268

Right-of-Use Assets Obtained in Exchange for Operating Lease Liabilities $ 1,836 $ 2,804

June 30,
2023

December 31,
2022

Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term (in years) 6.6 6.8
Weighted-Average Discount Rate 4.8% 4.6%

The following is a maturity analysis of the annual undiscounted cash flows of the Company’s operating lease 
liabilities as of June 30, 2023:

Year Ending December 31, Operating
2023 (July 1 through December 31) $ 16,300
2024 29,327
2025 25,040
2026 20,506
2027 12,185
Thereafter 44,044

Total Lease Payments 147,402
Less: Imputed Interest 21,192

Total $ 126,210
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12. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Exchange Agreement

The Company has entered into an exchange agreement with the limited partners of PJT Partners Holdings LP 
pursuant to which they (or certain permitted transferees) have the right, subject to the terms and conditions set forth 
in the limited partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, on a quarterly basis, to exchange all or part of 
their Partnership Units for cash or, at the Company’s election, for shares of PJT Partners Inc. Class A common stock 
on a one-for-one basis, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for splits, unit distributions and 
reclassifications. Further, pursuant to the terms in the partnership agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP, the 
Company may also require holders of Partnership Units who are not Service Providers (as defined in the partnership 
agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP) to exchange such Partnership Units.

Further information regarding the exchange agreement is described in Note 13. “Transactions with Related 
Parties—Exchange Agreement” in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in “Part II. Item 8. Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2022.

Certain holders of Partnership Units exchanged 0.3 million and 0.2 million Partnership Units, respectively, for 
cash in the amounts of $19.4 million and $11.0 million, respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 
2022, respectively. Such amounts are recorded as a reduction of Non-Controlling Interests in the Condensed 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. 

The Company intends to exchange 2 thousand Partnership Units for cash on August 1, 2023 for an aggregate 
payment of $0.2 million. The price per Partnership Unit to be paid by the company is $79.21, which is equal to the 
volume-weighted average price per share of the Company’s Class A common stock on July 27, 2023.

Registration Rights Agreement

The Company has entered into a registration rights agreement with the limited partners of PJT Partners 
Holdings LP pursuant to which the Company granted them, their affiliates and certain of their transferees the right, 
under certain circumstances and subject to certain restrictions, to require the Company to register under the 
Securities Act of 1933 shares of Class A common stock delivered in exchange for Partnership Units. The 
registration rights agreement does not contain any penalties associated with failure to file or to maintain the 
effectiveness of a registration statement covering the shares owned by individuals covered by such agreement.

Tax Receivable Agreement

The Company has entered into a tax receivable agreement with the holders of Partnership Units (other than 
PJT Partners Inc.) that provides for the payment by PJT Partners Inc. to exchanging holders of Partnership Units of 
85% of the benefits, if any, that PJT Partners Inc. is deemed to realize as a result of the increases in tax basis related 
to such exchanges of Partnership Units and of certain other tax benefits related to entering into the tax receivable 
agreement, including tax benefits attributable to payments under the tax receivable agreement. As of June 30, 2023 
and December 31, 2022, the Company had amounts due of $32.2 million and $30.3 million, respectively, pursuant to 
the tax receivable agreement, which represent management’s best estimate of the amounts currently expected to be 
owed in connection with the tax receivable agreement. Actual payments may differ significantly from estimated 
amounts due.
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Sublease

The Company has entered into a Sublease Agreement (the “Sublease”) with Dynasty Equity Partners 
Management, LLC (“Dynasty”) to sublease a portion of its office space to Dynasty. K. Don Cornwell, a member of 
the Board of Directors (the “Board”) as of January 2023, is the CEO and co-founder of Dynasty. The sublease 
commenced on October 1, 2022 with an initial term of two years. The rent, terms and conditions of the Sublease 
were consistent with those similar subleases in the market as of the time the Sublease was entered, and the Company 
recognized $0.2 million and $0.4 million of sublease income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, 
respectively. Such amounts are recorded in Interest Income and Other in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of 
Operations.

Aircraft Lease

The Company makes available to its partners and, on occasion, their family members personal use of a 
company leased aircraft when it is not being used for business purposes, for which the partners pay the full 
incremental costs associated with such use. Such amount is not material to the condensed consolidated financial 
statements.

13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments

Line of Credit

On February 1, 2021, PJT Partners Holdings LP, as borrower (the “Borrower”), entered into a Renewal and 
Modification Agreement (the “Renewal Agreement”) and related documents with First Republic Bank, as lender 
(the “Lender”), amending the terms of the Borrower’s revolving credit facility with the Lender under the Amended 
and Restated Loan Agreement dated October 1, 2018 (the “Amended and Restated Loan Agreement”). The Renewal 
Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility with aggregate commitments in an amount equal to $60.0 million, 
which aggregate commitments may be increased, pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in the Renewal 
Agreement, to up to $80.0 million during the period beginning December 1 each year through March 1 of the 
following year. The revolving credit facility will mature and the commitments thereunder will terminate on the 
maturity date, subject to extension by agreement of the Borrower and Lender. On February 7, 2023, the Renewal 
Agreement was further amended with the same terms to extend the maturity date to October 1, 2024. 

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were no borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit 
facility.

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with the debt covenants under 
the Renewal Agreement and the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement.

Contingencies

Litigation

From time to time, the Company may be named as a defendant in legal actions relating to transactions 
conducted in the ordinary course of business. Some of these matters may involve claims of substantial amounts. 
Although there can be no assurance of the outcome of such legal actions, in the opinion of management, after 
consultation with external counsel, the Company believes it is not probable and/or reasonably possible that any 
current legal proceedings or claims would individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse effect on the 
condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company. The Company is not currently able to estimate the 
possible loss or range of loss until developments in such matters have provided sufficient information to support 
such an assessment, including quantification of a damage demand from plaintiffs, discovery from other parties and 
investigation of factual allegations, rulings by courts on motions or appeals, analysis by experts or the status of any 
settlement negotiations.
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Guarantee

The Company provides a guarantee to a lending institution for certain loans held by employees for investment 
in funds of its former Parent, which are secured by the underlying investments in those funds. The amount 
guaranteed was $2.6 million and $3.3 million as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. In 
connection with this guarantee, the Company currently expects any associated risk of loss to be insignificant.

Indemnifications

The Company has entered and may continue to enter into contracts that contain a variety of indemnification 
obligations. The Company’s maximum exposure under these arrangements is not known; however, the Company 
currently expects any associated risk of loss to be insignificant. In connection with these matters, the Company has 
incurred and may continue to incur legal expenses, which are expensed as incurred.

Transactions and Agreements with Blackstone

Employee Matters Agreement

The Company is required to reimburse Blackstone for the value of forfeited unvested equity awards granted to 
former Blackstone employees that transitioned to PJT Partners in connection with the spin-off. Such reimbursement 
is recorded in Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities with an offset to Equity in the Condensed 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. The accrual for these forfeitures was $0.9 million as of June 30, 
2023 and December 31, 2022.

Pursuant to the Employee Matters Agreement, the Company has agreed to pay Blackstone the net realized 
cash benefit resulting from certain compensation-related tax deductions. Amounts are payable annually (for periods 
in which a cash benefit is realized) within nine months of the end of the relevant tax period. As of June 30, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022, the Company had accrued $1.2 million and $3.4 million, respectively, which the Company 
anticipates will be payable to Blackstone after the Company files its respective tax returns. The tax deduction and 
corresponding payable to Blackstone related to such deliveries will fluctuate primarily based on the price of 
Blackstone common stock at the time of delivery.

14. REGULATED ENTITIES

Certain subsidiaries of the Company are subject to various regulatory requirements in the U.S., United 
Kingdom, Hong Kong and Spain, which specify, among other requirements, minimum net capital requirements for 
registered broker-dealers.

PJT Partners LP is a registered broker-dealer through which advisory and placement services are conducted in 
the U.S. and is subject to the net capital requirements of Rule 15c3-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended (the “Exchange Act”). PJT Partners LP had net capital of $118.6 million and $125.9 million as of June 30, 
2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, which exceeded the minimum net capital requirement by $116.6 million 
and $124.1 million, respectively. PJT Partners LP does not carry customer accounts and does not otherwise hold 
funds or securities for, or owe money or securities to, customers and, accordingly, has no obligations under the SEC 
Customer Protection Rule (Rule 15c3-3).

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, PJT Partners (UK) Limited, PJT Partners (HK) Limited and PJT 
Partners Park Hill (Spain) A.V., S.A.U. were in compliance with local capital adequacy requirements.
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15. BUSINESS INFORMATION

The Company’s activities providing advisory and placement services constitute a single reportable segment. 
An operating segment is a component of an entity that conducts business and incurs revenues and expenses for 
which discrete financial information is available that is reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in assessing 
performance and making resource allocation decisions. The Company has a single operating segment and therefore a 
single reportable segment.

The Company is organized as one operating segment in order to maximize the value of advice to clients by 
drawing upon the diversified expertise and broad relationships of senior professionals across the Company. The 
chief operating decision maker assesses performance and allocates resources based on broad considerations, 
including the market opportunity, available expertise across the Company and the strength and efficacy of 
professionals’ collaboration, and not based upon profit or loss measures for the Company’s separate product lines.

Since the financial markets are global in nature, the Company generally manages its business based on the 
operating results of the Company taken as a whole, not by geographic region. The following tables set forth the 
geographical distribution of revenues and assets based on the location of the office that generates the revenues or 
holds the assets and therefore may not be reflective of the geography in which the Company’s clients are located.

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenues

Domestic $ 279,628 $ 203,450 $ 446,443 $ 420,429
International 66,649 29,691 99,822 59,031

Total $ 346,277 $ 233,141 $ 546,265 $ 479,460

June 30,
2023

December 31,
2022

Assets
Domestic $ 907,557 $ 921,274
International 179,545 129,378

Total $ 1,087,102 $ 1,050,652

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Board has declared a quarterly dividend of $0.25 per share of Class A common stock, which will be paid 
on September 20, 2023 to Class A common stockholders of record as of September 6, 2023.

The Company has evaluated the impact of subsequent events through the date these financial statements were 
issued, and determined there were no subsequent events requiring adjustment or further disclosure to the financial 
statements besides those described in Note 12. “Transactions with Related Parties—Exchange Agreement.” 
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with PJT Partners Inc.’s Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Our Business

PJT Partners is a premier, global, advisory-focused investment bank that was built from the ground up to be 
different. Our highly experienced, collaborative teams provide independent advice coupled with old-world, high-
touch client service. This ethos has allowed us to attract some of the very best talent in the markets in which we 
operate. We deliver leading advice to many of the world's most consequential companies, effect some of the most 
transformative transactions and restructurings and raise billions of dollars of capital around the globe to support 
startups and more established companies.

We have world-class franchises in each of the areas in which we compete:

Strategic Advisory

Our team of leading professionals delivers strategic advice and innovative solutions to various opportunities 
and often highly complex challenges. We advise clients on transactions including mergers and acquisitions 
(“M&A”), spin-offs, activism defense, contested M&A, joint ventures, minority investments and divestitures. 
Additionally, we advise private and public company boards and management teams on strategies for building 
productive investor relationships with a focus on shareholder engagement; complex investor matters; environmental, 
social and governance transition solutions; and other critical strategic, governance and shareholder matters. Our 
capital markets advisory team advises and executes public and private capital raises in the debt and equity capital 
markets, including debt financings, acquisition financings, structured product offerings, public equity raises 
including IPO and SPAC offerings, private capital raises for early and later stage companies as well as other capital 
structure related matters. Our geopolitical and policy advisory practice assists boards and managements team 
navigate changing geopolitical relationships against the backdrop of evolving political landscapes.

Restructuring and Special Situations

Our Restructuring and Special Situations business is one of the world’s leading advisors in financial debt 
restructurings, liability management, distressed M&A and Chapter 11 matters, around the globe. We have been 
named IFR Restructuring Advisor of the Year for three years running beginning in 2020 and are consistently ranked 
among the top three financial advisors in announced global restructuring volume. With expertise in highly complex 
capital structure challenges, we advise management teams, corporate boards, sponsors and creditors in situations 
where a company is experiencing financial distress.

PJT Park Hill

PJT Park Hill, our leading global alternative asset advisory and fundraising business, provides private fund 
advisory and fundraising services for a diverse range of investment strategies. Moreover, PJT Park Hill is the only 
group among its peers with top-tier dedicated private equity, hedge fund, private credit, real estate, directs and 
private capital solutions groups. PJT Park Hill’s Private Capital Solutions business is a leading advisor to GPs and 
LPs on liquidity and other structured solutions.

Business Environment

Economic and global financial conditions can materially affect our operational and financial performance. See 
“Part I. Item 1A. Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 for a 
discussion of some of the factors that can affect our performance.
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M&A is a cyclical business that is impacted by macroeconomic conditions. There are several factors weighing 
on global M&A activity in the intermediate-term, including monetary policy, greater economic and geopolitical 
uncertainty and slowing global growth. Worldwide M&A announced volumes during the first half of 2023 were 
down 37% compared with the first half of 20221 as these factors adversely impacted the strength of strategic 
activity. While the pace of activity has changed, we expect corporate boards and management teams to continue to 
use M&A as a strategic tool.

Global restructuring activity remained elevated during the second quarter of 2023 as adverse macroeconomic 
conditions and higher interest rates continued to challenge companies with levered balance sheets. In the first half of 
2023, out-of-court liability management transactions, primarily driven by financial sponsor activity, continued to 
drive an increase in restructuring mandates. Restructuring activity remains dispersed across a broad range of sectors, 
including healthcare, consumer-driven businesses and industrials, geographies, and across a mix of financial debt 
restructuring, liability management and in-court Chapter 11 matters.

Given the global macroeconomic environment and supply of alternative investment opportunities in the 
market seeking capital, the fundraising environment remains challenging as limited partners have become more 
discerning in their deployment of capital for both existing and new fund manager relationships. Investors continue to 
focus on existing relationships and, as a result, the bar for fund managers to attract new investors remains high as a 
flight to quality persists. As it relates to secondary and other private capital solutions activity, market volatility has 
increased resulting from rising inflation, supply chain disruption and geopolitical events. As a result, market 
sentiment has shifted away from highly concentrated portfolio structures in favor of diversification.
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

1Source: Refinitiv Global Mergers & Acquisitions Review First Half of 2023 as of June 30, 2023.

Key Financial Measures

Revenues

Substantially all of our revenues are derived from contracts with clients to provide advisory and placement 
services. This revenue is primarily a function of the number of active engagements we have, the size of each of 
those engagements and the fees we charge for our services.

We provide a range of strategic advisory, capital markets advisory, restructuring and special situations and 
shareholder advisory services to corporations, financial sponsors, institutional investors and governments around the 
world. In conjunction with providing restructuring advice, we may also assist with raising various forms of 
financing, including debt and equity. Our private capital solutions services include providing GP solutions and 
investing solutions to clients seeking portfolio liquidity, unfunded commitment relief and investments in secondary 
markets. Our fund placement services primarily serve alternative investment strategies, including private equity, real 
estate, hedge funds and private credit. We advise on all aspects of the fundraising process including competitive 
positioning and market assessment, marketing materials and related documentation including partnership terms and 
conditions most prevalent in the current environment. We also provide public and private placement fundraising 
services to our corporate clients and recognize placement and underwriting fees based on the successful completion 
of the transaction.

The amount and timing of the fees paid vary by the type of engagement and are typically based on retainers, 
completion of a transaction or a capital raise. Fees earned for services provided to alternative asset managers are 
typically recognized upon acceptance by a fund of capital or capital commitments (referred to as a “closing”), in 
accordance with terms set forth in individual agreements. For commitment based fees, revenue is recognized over 
time as commitments are accepted. Fees for such closed-end fund arrangements are generally paid in installments 
over three or four years and interest is charged to the outstanding balance at an agreed upon rate, such as the Secured 
Overnight Financing Rate or an alternate reference rate, plus a market-based margin. For funds with multiple 
closings, the constraint on variable consideration is lifted upon each closing. For open-end fund structures, 
placement fees are typically calculated as a percentage of a placed investor’s month-end net asset value. Typically, 
we earn fees for such open-end fund structures over a four year period. For these arrangements, revenue is 
recognized over time as the constraint over variable consideration is lifted. We may receive non-refundable up-front 
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fees in our contracts with customers, which are recorded as revenues in the period over which services are estimated 
to be provided.

A transaction can fail to be completed for many reasons, including global and/or regional economic 
conditions, failure of parties to agree upon final terms, to secure necessary board or shareholder approvals, to secure 
necessary financing or to achieve necessary regulatory approvals. In the case of bankruptcy engagements, fees are 
subject to approval of the court.

Interest Income and Other – Interest Income and Other represents interest typically earned on Cash and Cash 
Equivalents, investments in Treasury securities and outstanding placement fees receivable; foreign exchange gains 
and losses arising from transactions denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars; sublease income; and the 
amount of expense reimbursement invoiced to clients related to out-of-pocket expenses. Interest on placement fees 
receivable is earned from the time revenue is recognized and is calculated as mutually agreed upon with the 
receivable counterparty. Interest receivable is included in Accounts Receivable, Net in the Condensed Consolidated 
Statements of Financial Condition.

Expenses

Compensation and Benefits – Compensation and Benefits expense includes salaries, restricted and unrestricted 
cash awards, benefits, employer taxes and equity-based compensation associated with the grants of equity-based 
awards to partners and employees. Changes in this expense are driven by fluctuations in the number of employees, 
composition of our workforce, business performance, compensation adjustments in relation to market movements, 
changes in rates for employer taxes and other cost increases affecting benefit plans. The expense associated with our 
bonus and equity plans can also have a significant impact on this expense category and may vary from year to year.

We maintain compensation programs, including salaries, annual incentive compensation (that may include 
components of cash, restricted cash and/or equity-based awards) and benefits programs. We manage compensation 
to estimates of competitive levels based on market conditions and performance. Our level of compensation reflects 
our plan to maintain competitive compensation levels to retain key personnel and it reflects the impact of newly-
hired senior professionals, including related grants of equity awards that are generally valued at their grant date fair 
value.

Increasing the number of high-caliber, experienced senior level employees is critical to our growth efforts. 
These hires generally do not begin to generate significant revenue in the year they are hired.

Non-Compensation Expense – Non-Compensation expenses are the other costs typical to operating our 
business, which generally consist of Occupancy and Related, Travel and Related, Professional Fees, 
Communications and Information Services, Depreciation and Amortization and Other Expenses. Further information 
regarding these expenses can be found in “Part II. Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Income Taxes – PJT Partners Inc. is a corporation subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes in 
jurisdictions where it does business. Our businesses generally operate as partnerships for U.S. federal and state 
purposes and as corporate entities in non-U.S. jurisdictions. In the U.S. federal and state jurisdictions, taxes related 
to income earned by these entities generally represent obligations of the individual members and partners.

The operating entities have generally been subject to New York City Unincorporated Business Tax and to 
entity-level income taxes imposed by state and local as well as non-U.S. jurisdictions, as applicable. These taxes 
have been reflected in our condensed consolidated financial statements.

PJT Partners Inc. is subject to U.S. corporate federal, state and local income tax on its allocable share of 
results of operations from the operating partnership (PJT Partners Holdings LP).
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Non-Controlling Interests

PJT Partners Inc. is a holding company and its only material asset is its controlling equity interest in PJT 
Partners Holdings LP, and certain cash and cash equivalents it may hold from time to time. As the sole general 
partner of PJT Partners Holdings LP, PJT Partners Inc. operates and controls all of the business and affairs and 
consolidates the financial results of PJT Partners Holdings LP and its operating subsidiaries. The portion of net 
income attributable to the non-controlling interests is presented separately in the Condensed Consolidated 
Statements of Operations.

Condensed Consolidated Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our condensed consolidated results of operations for the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 Change 2023 2022 Change
(Dollars in Thousands)

Revenues
Advisory Fees $ 323,794 $ 186,649 73% $ 491,884 $ 368,307 34%
Placement Fees 20,028 49,482 (60)% 47,613 109,833 (57)%
Interest Income and Other 2,455 (2,990) N/M 6,768 1,320 413%

Total Revenues 346,277 233,141 49% 546,265 479,460 14%
Expenses

Compensation and Benefits 246,614 150,587 64% 379,657 309,819 23%
Occupancy and Related 9,920 8,658 15% 19,931 17,600 13%
Travel and Related(1) 8,314 7,977 4% 15,286 13,030 17%
Professional Fees 11,454 7,226 59% 18,381 14,277 29%
Communications and
   Information Services 3,761 4,241 (11)% 7,838 8,664 (10)%
Depreciation and
   Amortization 3,597 4,094 (12)% 7,040 8,401 (16)%
Other Expenses(1) 8,448 6,670 27% 14,770 13,833 7%

Total Expenses 292,108 189,453 54% 462,903 385,624 20%
Income Before Provision
   for Taxes 54,169 43,688 24% 83,362 93,836 (11)%
Provision for Taxes 13,117 8,495 54% 14,324 14,175 1%
Net Income 41,052 35,193 17% 69,038 79,661 (13)%
Net Income Attributable
   to Non-Controlling Interests 18,911 16,025 18% 29,561 34,789 (15)%
Net Income Attributable to
   PJT Partners Inc. $ 22,141 $ 19,168 16% $ 39,477 $ 44,872 (12)%
__________________
N/M  Not meaningful.

(1) Certain balances on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations in the prior period have been 
reclassified to conform to their current presentation. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, this resulted 
in a reclassification of $1.3 million and $1.9 million, respectively, from Other Expenses to Travel and Related. This 
reclassification had no impact on net income or stockholders’ equity.
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Revenues

The following table provides revenue statistics for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:
 

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Total Number of Clients 226 234 282 293
Total Number of Fees of at least $1 Million from
   Client Transactions 52 41 104 89

Total Revenues were $346.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, an increase of $113.1 million 
compared with $233.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022. Advisory Fees were $323.8 million for the 
three months ended June 30, 2023, an increase of $137.1 million compared with $186.6 million for the three months 
ended June 30, 2022. The increase in Advisory Fees was principally due to an increase in restructuring revenues. 
Placement Fees were $20.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, a decrease of $29.5 million compared 
with $49.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022. The decrease in Placement Fees was principally due to 
a decrease in fund placement revenues. Interest Income and Other revenues were $2.5 million, an increase from a 
loss of $3.0 million in the prior year. Last year's results reflected the reduction in fair market value of certain equity 
securities received as part of transaction compensation. 

Total Revenues were $546.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023, an increase of $66.8 million 
compared with $479.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. Advisory Fees were $491.9 million for the 
six months ended June 30, 2023, an increase of $123.6 million compared with $368.3 million for the six months 
ended June 30, 2022. The increase in Advisory Fees was principally due to an increase in restructuring revenues. 
Placement Fees were $47.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023, a decrease of $62.2 million compared 
with $109.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The decrease in Placement Fees was principally due to 
a decrease in fund placement revenues. Interest Income and Other revenues were $6.8 million, an increase from $1.3 
million in the prior year. Last year's results reflected the reduction in fair market value of certain equity securities 
received as part of transaction compensation. 

Expenses

Expenses were $292.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, an increase of $102.7 million 
compared with $189.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022. The increase in expenses was principally 
attributable to increases in Compensation and Benefits, Professional Fees, Other Expenses, and Occupancy and 
Related expenses. The increase in Compensation and Benefits was principally due to a higher six month accrual rate. 
Professional Fees increased principally due to higher consulting expense relating to the firm's business activities. 
Other Expenses increased principally due to higher bad debt expense. Occupancy and Related increased principally 
due to the further expansion of our New York office. 

Expenses were $462.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023, an increase of $77.3 million compared 
with $385.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. The increase in expenses was principally attributable to 
increases in Compensation and Benefits, Professional Fees, Occupancy and Related, and Travel and Related 
expenses. The increase in Compensation and Benefits was principally due to a higher compensation accrual rate and 
higher revenues. Professional Fees increased principally due to higher consulting expense relating to the firm's 
business activities. Occupancy and Related increased principally due to the further expansion of our New York 
office. Travel and Related increased due to increased levels of business travel.

Provision for Taxes

The Company’s Provision for Taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2023 was $13.1 million, which 
represents an effective tax rate of 24.2% on pretax income of $54.2 million. The Company’s Provision for Taxes for 
the three months ended June 30, 2022 was $8.5 million, which represents an effective tax rate of 19.4% on pretax 
income of $43.7 million.
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The Company’s Provision for Taxes for the six months ended June 30, 2023 was $14.3 million, which 
represents an effective tax rate of 17.2% on pretax income of $83.4 million. The Company’s Provision for Taxes for 
the six months ended June 30, 2022 was $14.2 million, which represents an effective tax rate of 15.1% on pretax 
income of $93.8 million.

Non-Controlling Interests

Net Income Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests is derived from the Income Before Provision for Taxes 
and the percentage allocation of the income between the holders of common units of partnership interest in PJT 
Partners Holdings LP (“Partnership Units”) and holders of Class A common stock of PJT Partners Inc. after 
considering any contractual arrangements that govern the allocation of income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

We regularly monitor our liquidity position, including cash and cash equivalents, investments, working capital 
assets and liabilities, any commitments and other liquidity requirements.

Our assets have been historically comprised of cash and cash equivalents, investments, receivables arising 
from advisory and placement engagements and operating lease right-of-use assets. Our liabilities generally include 
accrued compensation and benefits, accounts payable and accrued expenses, taxes payable and operating lease 
liabilities. We expect to pay a significant amount of incentive compensation toward the end of each year and during 
the beginning of the next calendar year with respect to the prior year’s results. A portion of annual compensation 
may be awarded with equity-based compensation and thus requires less cash. We expect levels of cash to decline at 
the end of the year and during the first quarter of each year after incentive compensation is paid to our employees. 
We then expect cash to build throughout the remainder of the year.

On February 1, 2021, PJT Partners Holdings LP, as borrower (the “Borrower”), entered into a Renewal and 
Modification Agreement (the “Renewal Agreement”) and related documents with First Republic Bank, as lender 
(the “Lender”), amending the terms of the Borrower’s revolving credit facility with the Lender under the Amended 
and Restated Loan Agreement dated October 1, 2018 (the “Amended and Restated Loan Agreement”). On February 
7, 2023, the Renewal Agreement was further amended to extend the maturity date to October 1, 2024. Further 
information regarding the Renewal Agreement and Amended and Restated Loan Agreement can be found in Note 
13. “Commitments and Contingencies—Commitments, Line of Credit” in the “Notes to Condensed Consolidated 
Financial Statements” in “—Item 1. Financial Statements” of this filing. As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 
2022, we were in compliance with the debt covenants under the Renewal Agreement and Amended and Restated 
Loan Agreement, respectively. Additionally, as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were no borrowings 
outstanding under the revolving credit facility. 

We evaluate our cash needs on a regular basis. As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we had cash, 
cash equivalents and short-term investments of $225.6 million and $223.5 million, respectively. The vast majority of 
these balances are either held in institutions labeled by the Financial Stability Board as global systemically 
important banks, fully insured cash sweep accounts or Treasury securities. Although we maintain multiple banking 
relationships with both global and regional banks and actively monitor the financial stability of such institutions, a 
failure at any institution where we maintain a banking relationship could impact our liquidity.

Our liquidity is highly dependent upon cash receipts from clients, which are generally dependent upon the 
successful completion of transactions as well as the timing of receivable collections. As of June 30, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022, total accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses, were $333.1 million and $317.8 
million, respectively. As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the allowance for credit losses was $3.0 million 
and $1.9 million, respectively. Included in Accounts Receivable, Net are long-term receivables of $125.8 million 
and $133.3 million as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, related to placement fees that are 
generally paid in installments over a period of three to four years.
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Sources and Uses of Liquidity

Our primary cash needs are for working capital, paying operating expenses including cash compensation to 
our employees, exchanging of Partnership Units for cash, repurchasing shares of the Company’s Class A common 
stock, paying income taxes, making distributions to our shareholders in accordance with our dividend policy, 
partnership tax distributions, capital expenditures, making payments pursuant to the tax receivable agreement, 
commitments and strategic investments. We expect to fund these liquidity requirements through cash flows from 
operations and borrowings under our revolving credit facility. Our ability to fund these needs will depend, in part, on 
our ability to generate or raise cash in the future which depends on our future financial results, which are subject to 
general economic, financial, competitive, legislative and regulatory factors.

Additionally, our ability to generate positive cash flow from operations will be impacted by global economic 
conditions. If our cash flows from operations are significantly reduced, we may need to borrow from our revolving 
credit facility, incur debt, or issue additional equity. Although we believe that the arrangement we have in place, and 
our ability to renew that arrangement, will permit us to finance our operations on acceptable terms and conditions 
for the foreseeable future, our access to, and the availability of, financing on acceptable terms and conditions in the 
future will be impacted by many factors, including: (a) business performance, (b) our credit ratings or absence of a 
credit rating, (c) the liquidity of the overall capital markets, (d) the current state of the economy, and (e) stability of 
our lending institution. We cannot provide any assurance that such financing will be available to us on acceptable 
terms or that such financing will be available at all. We believe that our future cash from operations and availability 
under our revolving credit facility, together with our access to funds on hand, will provide adequate resources to 
fund our liquidity and capital needs.

Regulatory Capital

We actively monitor our regulatory capital base. We are subject to regulatory requirements in the U.S. and 
certain international jurisdictions to ensure general financial soundness and liquidity. This requires, among other 
things, that we comply with certain minimum capital requirements, recordkeeping, reporting procedures, experience 
and training requirements for employees and certain other requirements and procedures. These regulatory 
requirements may restrict the flow of funds to and from affiliates. See Note 14. “Regulated Entities” in the “Notes to 
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” in “—Item 1. Financial Statements” of this filing for further 
information. The licenses under which we operate are meant to be appropriate to conduct our business. We believe 
that we provide each of these entities with sufficient capital and liquidity, consistent with their business and 
regulatory requirements.

Our activities may also be subject to regulation, including regulatory capital requirements, by various other 
foreign jurisdictions and self-regulatory organizations.

We do not anticipate that compliance with any and all such requirements will materially adversely impact the 
availability of funds for domestic and parent-level purposes.

Exchange Agreement

Subject to the terms and conditions of the exchange agreement between us and certain of the holders of 
Partnership Units (other than PJT Partners Inc.), Partnership Units are exchangeable at the option of the holder for 
cash or, at our election, for shares of our Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. Depending on our liquidity 
and capital resources, market conditions, the timing and concentration of exchange requests and other 
considerations, we may choose to fund exchanges of Partnership Units with available cash, borrowings or new 
issuances of Class A common stock or to settle exchanges by issuing Class A common stock to the exchanging 
holder of Partnership Units.

Certain holders of Partnership Units exchanged 0.3 million and 0.2 million Partnership Units, respectively, for 
cash in the amounts of $19.4 million and $11.0 million, respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 
2022, respectively.



29

Share Repurchase Program

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company repurchased 1.4 million shares of the Company's 
Class A common stock at an average price per share of $71.87, or $104.0 million in aggregate, pursuant to the share 
repurchase program. As of June 30, 2023, the Company’s remaining repurchase authorization was $69.7 million.

Contractual Obligations

For a discussion of our contractual obligations, refer to “Part II. Item 7. Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Contractual Obligations” in our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022. There have not been any material changes to our contractual 
obligations since December 31, 2022. 

Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

With respect to our litigation matters, including any litigation discussed under the caption “Legal 
Proceedings” elsewhere in this report, we are not currently able to estimate the possible loss or range of loss until 
developments in such matters have provided sufficient information to support such an assessment, including 
quantification of a damage demand from plaintiffs, discovery from other parties and investigation of factual 
allegations, rulings by courts on motions or appeals, analysis by experts or the status of any settlement negotiations. 
While the ultimate outcome and the costs associated with litigation are inherently uncertain and difficult to predict, 
we believe, based on current knowledge and after consultation with counsel, that we are not currently party to any 
material pending proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, the resolution of which would have a material effect 
on the Company.

Guarantee

The Company provides a guarantee to a lending institution for certain loans held by employees for investment 
in funds of its former Parent, which are secured by the underlying investments in those funds. The amount 
guaranteed was $2.6 million and $3.3 million as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. In 
connection with this guarantee, we currently expect any associated risk of loss to be insignificant.

Indemnifications

We have entered and may continue to enter into contracts that contain a variety of indemnification obligations. 
Our maximum exposure under these arrangements is not known; however, we currently expect any associated risk 
of loss to be insignificant. In connection with these matters, we have incurred and may continue to incur legal 
expenses, which are expensed as incurred.

Tax Receivable Agreement

We have entered into a tax receivable agreement with the holders of Partnership Units (other than PJT 
Partners Inc.) that provides for the payment by PJT Partners Inc. to exchanging holders of Partnership Units of 85% 
of the benefits, if any, that PJT Partners Inc. is deemed to realize as a result of the increases in tax basis related to 
such exchanges of Partnership Units and of certain other tax benefits related to entering into the tax receivable 
agreement, including tax benefits attributable to payments under the tax receivable agreement. As of June 30, 2023 
and December 31, 2022, the Company had amounts due of $32.2 million and $30.3 million, respectively, pursuant to 
the tax receivable agreement, which represent management’s best estimate of the amounts currently expected to be 
owed in connection with the tax receivable agreement. Actual payments may differ significantly from estimated 
amounts due.

Further information regarding the tax receivable agreement can be found in “Part II. Item 7. Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Other

See Notes 8, 10, 11 and 13 in the “Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements” in “—Item 1. 
Financial Statements” of this filing for further information in connection with income taxes, equity-based and other 
deferred compensation plans, leasing arrangements and commitments, respectively.

Critical Accounting Estimates

A discussion of critical accounting estimates is included in “Part II. Item 7. Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2022.



31

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market Risk and Credit Risk

Our business is not capital-intensive and we do not invest in derivative instruments or, generally, borrow. As a 
result, we are not subject to significant market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk 
and commodity price risk) or credit risk. Notwithstanding the foregoing, current economic and geopolitical 
uncertainty and slowing global growth could have a material adverse effect on the Company's condensed 
consolidated financial statements.

Risks Related to Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

Our cash and cash equivalents include short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and have original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase. Cash and 
cash equivalents are maintained in U.S. and non-U.S. bank accounts and are held at seven financial institutions. In 
addition to cash and cash equivalents, we hold investments in Treasury securities, certain of which are classified as 
Investments in our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. We believe our cash, cash 
equivalents and short-term investments are not subject to any material interest rate risk, equity price risk, credit risk 
or other market risk based on our diversified use of global and regional financial institutions and the short-term 
nature of the securities.

Credit Risk

We estimate our allowance for credit losses using relevant available information from internal and external 
sources relating to past events, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts. We maintain an 
allowance for credit losses that, in our opinion, reflects current expected credit losses. As of June 30, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022, the allowance for credit losses was $3.0 million and $1.9 million, respectively.

Exchange Rate Risk

We are exposed to the risk that the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies may have an 
adverse effect on the reported value of our non-U.S. dollar denominated or based assets and liabilities. In addition, 
the reported amounts of our revenues may be affected by movements in the rate of exchange between the transaction 
currency and the U.S. dollar, the currency in which our financial statements are denominated. The principal non-
U.S. dollar currencies include the pound sterling, the euro, the Hong Kong dollar and the Japanese yen. For the six 
months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the impact of the fluctuation of foreign currencies in Other Comprehensive 
Income (Loss), Net of Tax – Currency Translation Adjustment in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of 
Comprehensive Income was a gain of $3.1 million and a loss of $5.1 million, respectively, and in Interest Income 
and Other in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations, a loss of $2.7 million and $0.1 million, 
respectively. We have not entered into any transaction to hedge our exposure to these foreign currency fluctuations 
through the use of derivative instruments or other methods at this time. Given the geopolitical uncertainty and the 
ongoing economic impact, rising interest rates and heightened inflation, exchange rate fluctuations between the U.S. 
dollar and other currencies could unfavorably affect our condensed consolidated financial statements. 

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended 
(the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon this evaluation, our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the 
Exchange Act) occurred during our most recent quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, the Company and its affiliates may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the 
ordinary course of business. In addition, government agencies and self-regulatory organizations in countries in 
which we conduct business undertake periodic examinations and may initiate administrative proceedings regarding 
the Company’s and its affiliates’ business, including, among other matters, accounting and operational matters, that 
can result in censure, fine, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders or the suspension or expulsion of a broker-dealer, 
or its directors, officers or employees. It is our policy to cooperate fully with such governmental requests, 
examinations and administrative proceedings. In view of the inherent difficulty of determining whether any loss in 
connection with any such matters is probable and whether the amount of such loss can be reasonably estimated, 
particularly in cases where claimants seek substantial or indeterminate damages or where investigations and 
proceedings are in the early stages, we cannot estimate the amount of such loss or range of loss, if any, related to 
such matters, how or if such matters will be resolved, when they will ultimately be resolved, or what the eventual 
settlement, fine, penalty or other relief, if any, might be. Subject to the foregoing, we believe, based on current 
knowledge and after consultation with counsel, that we are not currently party to any material pending proceedings, 
individually or in the aggregate, the resolution of which would have a material effect on the Company.

In June 2017, an action was filed in New York state court by affiliates of Moore Capital against defendants 
PJT Partners Inc., Park Hill Group LLC and Andrew W.W. Caspersen, arising out of the fraudulent conduct of 
Caspersen. A principal of Plaintiffs had a personal relationship with Caspersen and Plaintiffs had no relationship 
with either Park Hill Group LLC or PJT Partners Inc. PJT Partners Inc. and Park Hill Group LLC moved to dismiss 
the complaint. On August 13, 2018, the court dismissed all of the claims asserted against PJT Partners Inc. and Park 
Hill Group LLC, except for the fraud-based apparent authority claim. Plaintiffs and PJT Partners Inc. and Park Hill 
Group LLC appealed the court’s decision. On December 3, 2019, the appellate court dismissed the complaint in its 
entirety against PJT Partners Inc. and Park Hill Group LLC. On January 2, 2020, Plaintiffs filed a motion with the 
appellate court seeking reargument or, alternatively, leave to appeal, which motion was denied by the appellate 
court. On September 15, 2020, the New York Court of Appeals granted Plaintiffs permission to file an appeal, which 
appeal was filed on December 30, 2020. On June 13, 2023, the New York Court of Appeals reversed the dismissals 
of the two lower courts and reinstated Plaintiff’s claim for negligent supervision and retention for further 
proceedings at the state court. We believe this matter is without merit and will continue to vigorously oppose 
Plaintiffs’ sole remaining claim.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

There were no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 and in our 
subsequently filed Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks and 
uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and/or operating results.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities in the Second Quarter of 2023

Total Number Approximate Dollar
of Shares Value of Shares

Purchased as that May Yet Be
Total Number Part of Publicly Purchased Under

of Shares Average Price Announced Plans the Plans or
Repurchased Paid Per Share or Programs (a) Programs (a)

April 1 to April 30 — $ — — $ 107.5 million
May 1 to May 31 507,598 63.29 507,598 75.4 million
June 1 to June 30 84,745 67.76 84,745 69.7 million
Total 592,343 $ 63.93 592,343 $ 69.7 million

(a) On April 25, 2022, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) authorized a $200 million repurchase 
program of the Company’s Class A common stock, which is in addition to the previous Board authorizations. 
As of June 30, 2023, the Company’s remaining repurchase authorization was $69.7 million. Under the 
repurchase program, shares of the Company’s Class A common stock may be repurchased from time to time 
in open market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. The timing and the actual 
number of shares repurchased depend on a variety of factors, including legal requirements, price and 
economic and market conditions. The repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time and 
does not have a specified expiration date.

Unregistered Sales/Issuances of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

There were no unregistered sales/issuances of equity securities during the second quarter of 2023.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not applicable.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

During the three months ended June 30, 2023, none of the Company’s directors or officers (as defined in Rule 
16a-1(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) adopted, terminated, or modified a Rule 10b5-1 
trading arrangement or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement (as such terms are defined in Item 408 of Regulation 
S-K of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended).

In addition, on July 27, 2023, and effective as of that date, the Company filed a Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation (the “Restated Certificate”) with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, integrating prior 
amendments to the Company’s existing Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the “Existing Charter”). 
The Restated Certificate was approved by the Company's Board of Directors in accordance with the DGCL and only 
restated and integrated, but did not further amend, the Company’s Existing Charter. The foregoing description of the 
Company's Restated Certificate is qualified in all respects by reference to the text of the Restated Certificate, which 
is filed as Exhibit 3.1 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and incorporated herein by reference. 
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

    2.1 Separation and Distribution Agreement by and among The Blackstone Group L.P., Blackstone Holdings 
I L.P., New Advisory GP L.L.C., PJT Partners Inc. and PJT Partners Holdings LP, dated as of October 1, 
2015 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 5, 2015).

    3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of PJT Partners Inc.

    3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of PJT Partners Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to 
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 
October 5, 2015).

*10.1 Second Amended and Restated PJT Partners Inc. 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on May 25, 2023).

  31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

  31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

  32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).

  32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File 
because iXBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).
______________________
*        Indicates management or compensation plan or arrangement.

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual 
information or other disclosure other than with respect to the terms of the agreements or other documents 
themselves, and you should not rely on them for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made 
by us in these agreements or other documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant agreement 
or document and may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time.

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1626115/000119312515337529/d21345dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1626115/000119312515337529/d21345dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1626115/000119312515337529/d21345dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1626115/000119312515337529/d21345dex21.htm
/exhibit
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1626115/000119312515337529/d21345dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1626115/000119312515337529/d21345dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1626115/000119312515337529/d21345dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1626115/000095017023024293/pjt-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1626115/000095017023024293/pjt-ex10_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1626115/000095017023024293/pjt-ex10_1.htm
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
/exhibit
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: July 28, 2023

PJT Partners Inc.

By: /s/ Paul J. Taubman
Name: Paul J. Taubman
Title: Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/ Helen T. Meates
Name: Helen T. Meates
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 3.1

RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF 
INCORPORATION OF
PJT PARTNERS INC.

PJT Partners Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the 
“Corporation”), does hereby certify as follows:

A. The present name of the Corporation is PJT Partners Inc.

B. The Corporation was incorporated under the name “Blackstone Advisory Inc.” by the filing of 
its original certificate of incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on November 5, 2014 
(such certificate of incorporation as amended to the date hereof, the “Original Certificate of Incorporation”).

C. This restated certificate of incorporation only restates and integrates and does not further amend 
the provisions of the certificate of incorporation of the Corporation, as theretofore amended or supplemented and 
there is no discrepancy between the provisions of the certificate of incorporation as theretofore amended and 
supplemented and the provisions of this restated certificate of incorporation. This restated certificate of 
incorporation was duly adopted in accordance with the provisions of Section 245 of the General Corporation Law 
of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”).

D. This Restated Certificate of Incorporation shall be effective upon filing.

E. The Original Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation is hereby integrated and 
restated to read in its entirety as follows:

ARTICLE I

Section 1.1. Name. The name of the corporation is “PJT Partners Inc.” (the “Corporation”).

ARTICLE II

Section 2.1. Address. The registered office of the Corporation in the State of Delaware is 251 Little Falls Drive, 
Wilmington, Delaware 19808, New Castle County. The name of the Corporation’s registered agent at such 
address is Corporation Service Company.

ARTICLE III

Section 3.1. Purpose. The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which 
corporations may now or hereafter be organized under the DGCL.

ARTICLE IV

Section 4.1. Capitalization. The total number of shares of all classes of stock that the Corporation is authorized to 
issue is 3,301,000,000 shares, consisting of (i) 300,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share 
(“Preferred Stock”), (ii) 3,000,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Class A 
Common Stock”), and (iii) 1,000,000 shares of Class B Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Class B 
Common Stock” and, together with the Class A Common Stock, the “Common Stock”). The number of 
authorized shares of any of the Class A Common Stock, Class B Common Stock or Preferred Stock may be 
increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of 
the holders of a majority in voting power of the stock of the Corporation entitled to vote thereon irrespective of 
the provisions of Section 242(b)(2) of the DGCL (or any successor provision thereto), and no vote of the holders 
of any of the Class A Common Stock, Class B Common Stock or Preferred Stock voting separately as a class 
shall be required therefor, unless a vote of any such holder is required pursuant to this Amended and Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate of designations relating to any series of Preferred Stock).



Section 4.2. Preferred Stock.
(A) The Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board”) is hereby expressly authorized, by resolution or 
resolutions, at any time and from time to time, to provide, out of the unissued shares of Preferred Stock, for one 
or more series of Preferred Stock and, with respect to each such series, to fix the number of shares constituting 
such series and the designation of such series, the voting powers (if any) of the shares of such series, and the 
powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, if any, and any qualifications, 
limitations or restrictions thereof, of the shares of such series and to cause to be filed with the Secretary of State 
of the State of Delaware a certificate of designations with respect thereto. The powers, preferences and relative, 
participating, optional and other special rights of each series of Preferred Stock, and the qualifications, 
limitations or restrictions thereof, if any, may differ from those of any and all other series at any time 
outstanding.

(B) Except as otherwise required by law, holders of a series of Preferred Stock, as such, shall be entitled 
only to such voting rights, if any, as shall expressly be granted thereto by this Amended and Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate of designations relating to such series).

Section 4.3. Common Stock.

(A) Voting Rights.

(1) Each holder of Class A Common Stock, as such, shall be entitled to one vote for each share of Class A 
Common Stock held of record by such holder on all matters on which stockholders generally are entitled to vote; 
provided, however, that to the fullest extent permitted by law, holders of Class A Common Stock, as such, shall 
have no voting power with respect to, and shall not be entitled to vote on, any amendment to this Amended and 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate of designations relating to any series of Preferred 
Stock) that relates solely to the terms of one or more outstanding series of Preferred Stock if the holders of such 
affected series are entitled, either separately or together with the holders of one or more other such series, to vote 
thereon pursuant to this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate of 
designations relating to any series of Preferred Stock) or pursuant to the DGCL.

(2) Each holder of Class B Common Stock, as such, shall be entitled, without regard to the number of shares of 
Class B Common Stock (or fraction thereof) held by such holder, to a number of votes that is equal to the product 
of (x) the total number of vested and unvested Partnership Units (as defined in the Exchange Agreement dated on 
or about the date hereof as amended from time to time (the “Exchange Agreement”), by and among the 
Corporation, PJT Partners Holdings LP and the holders of Partnership Units from time to time party thereto), 
held of record by such holder (including for this purpose the number of Partnership Units that would be held by 
such holder assuming the conversion on such date of all vested and unvested LTIP Units (as defined in the 
Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of PJT Partners Holdings LP dated as of or about 
the date hereof, as amended from time to time (the “Partnership Agreement”)) held of record by such holder at 
the then applicable LTIP Conversion Ratio (as defined in the Partnership Agreement)) multiplied by (y) the 
Exchange Rate (as defined in the Exchange Agreement) on all matters on which stockholders generally are 
entitled to vote; provided, however, that, with respect to the election of directors to serve on the Board of the 
Corporation and the removal of directors from the Board of the Corporation, each holder of Class B Common 
Stock, as such, shall initially be entitled to one vote for each share of Class B Common Stock held of record by 
such holder, which voting power shall be subject to increase as provided in this Section 4.3(A)(2); provided, 
further, that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, holders of Class B Common Stock, as such, shall have no 
voting power with respect to, and shall not be entitled to vote on, any amendment to this Amended and Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate of designations relating to any series of Preferred Stock) 
that relates solely to the terms of one or more outstanding series of Preferred Stock if the holders of such affected 
series are entitled, either separately or together with the holders of one or more other such series, to vote thereon 
pursuant to this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (including any certificate of designations 
relating to any series of Preferred Stock) or pursuant to the DGCL. Notwithstanding the foregoing, by written 
notice to the Corporation, each holder of Class B common stock may, at any time, request that such holder 
become entitled to a number of votes in respect of such holder’s shares of Class B Common Stock in the election 
of directors to serve on the Board of the Corporation and the removal of directors from the Board of the 



Corporation not to exceed at any time the number of votes to which such holder is then entitled in respect of such 
shares of Class B common stock on other matters presented to stockholders, or such lesser number of votes as 
may be specified in such holder’s request. The Board of the Corporation, in its sole discretion, may approve or 
decline any such request, and no such holder shall become entitled to such requested voting power in respect of 
such shares of Class B common stock unless and until the Board of the Corporation approves such request.

(3) Except as otherwise provided in this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or required by 
applicable law, the holders of Common Stock shall vote together as a single class (or, if the holders of one or 
more series of Preferred Stock are entitled to vote together with the holders of Common Stock, as a single class 
with the holders of such other series of Preferred Stock) on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders 
generally.

(B) Dividends and Distributions. Subject to applicable law and the rights, if any, of the holders of any 
outstanding series of Preferred Stock or any class or series of stock having a preference over or the right to 
participate with the Class A Common Stock with respect to the payment of dividends and other distributions in 
cash, property of the Corporation or shares of the Corporation’s capital stock, such dividends and other 
distributions may be declared and paid on the Class A Common Stock out of the assets of the Corporation that 
are by law available therefor at such times and in such amounts as the Board in its discretion shall determine. 
Dividends and other distributions shall not be declared or paid on the Class B Common Stock.

(C) Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding Up. In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution 
or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation, after payment or provision for payment of the debts and other 
liabilities of the Corporation and subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of Preferred Stock or any class or 
series of stock having a preference over or the right to participate with the Class A Common Stock as to 
distributions upon dissolution or liquidation or winding up , the holders of all outstanding shares of Class A 
Common Stock shall be entitled to receive the remaining assets of the Corporation available for distribution 
ratably in proportion to the number of shares held by each such stockholder. The holders of shares of Class B 
Common Stock, as such, shall not be entitled to receive any assets of the Corporation in the event of any 
voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation.

(D) Retirement of Class B Common Stock. In the event that any holder of an outstanding share of Class B 
Common Stock ceases to hold any Partnership Units, then any share or shares of Class B Common Stock held by 
such holder shall automatically and without further action on the part of the Corporation or any holder of Class B 
Common Stock be transferred to the Corporation for no consideration.

ARTICLE V

Section 5.1. By-Laws. In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred by the DGCL, the Board is 
expressly authorized to make, amend, alter, change, add to or repeal the by-laws of the Corporation without the 
assent or vote of the stockholders in any manner not inconsistent with the laws of the State of Delaware or this 
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this 
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least seventy-five 
percent (75%) of the voting power of all the then- outstanding shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote 
generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required for the stockholders to 
make, amend, alter, change, add to or repeal any provision of the by-laws of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VI

Section 6.1. Board of Directors.

(A) Except as otherwise provided in this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the DGCL, the 
business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board. The total number 
of directors constituting the whole Board shall be determined from time to time exclusively by resolution adopted 
by the Board. The directors (other than those directors elected by the holders of any series of Preferred Stock, 
voting separately as a series or together with one or more other such series, as the case may be) shall be divided 



into three classes designated Class I, Class II and Class III. Each class shall consist, as nearly as possible, of one-
third of the total number of such directors. Initially, the total number of directors shall be five and there shall be 
two Class I directors, two Class II directors and one Class III director. Class I directors shall initially serve for a 
term expiring at the first annual meeting of stockholders following the date that the Class A Common Stock of 
the Corporation is first publicly traded (the “Spin-Off Date”), Class II directors shall initially serve for a term 
expiring at the second annual meeting of stockholders following the Spin-Off Date and Class III directors shall 
initially serve for a term expiring at the third annual meeting of stockholders following the Spin-Off Date. 
Commencing with the first annual meeting of stockholders following the Spin-Off Date, the directors of the class 
to be elected at each annual meeting shall be elected for a three-year term. If the number of such directors is 
changed, any increase or decrease shall be apportioned among the classes so as to maintain the number of 
directors in each class as nearly equal as possible, and any such additional director of any class elected to fill a 
newly created directorship resulting from an increase in such class shall hold office for a term that shall coincide 
with the remaining term of that class, but in no case shall a decrease in the number of directors remove or shorten 
the term of any incumbent director. Any such director shall hold office until the annual meeting at which his or 
her term expires and until his or her successor shall be elected and qualified, or his or her death, resignation, 
retirement, disqualification or removal from office. Subject to the provisions of this Amended and Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation, the Board is authorized to assign members of the Board already in office to their 
respective class.

(B) Subject to the rights granted to the holders of any one or more series of Preferred Stock then outstanding, 
any newly-created directorship on the Board that results from an increase in the number of directors and any 
vacancy occurring in the Board (whether by death, resignation, retirement, disqualification, removal or other 
cause) shall be filled only by a majority of the directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or by a sole 
remaining director. Any director elected to fill a vacancy or newly created directorship shall hold office until the 
next election of the class for which such director shall have been chosen and until his or her successor shall be 
elected and qualified, or until his or her earlier death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal.

(C) Any or all of the directors (other than the directors elected by the holders of any series of Preferred Stock of 
the Corporation, voting separately as a series or together with one or more other such series, as the case may be) 
may be removed only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least seventy-five percent 
(75%) in voting power of all the then-outstanding shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote thereon, 
voting together as a single class.

(D) During any period when the holders of any series of Preferred Stock, voting separately as a series or 
together with one or more series, have the right to elect additional directors, then upon commencement and for 
the duration of the period during which such right continues: (i) the then otherwise total authorized number of 
directors constituting the Board shall automatically be increased by such specified number of directors, and the 
holders of such Preferred Stock shall be entitled to elect any such additional director so provided for or fixed 
pursuant to said provisions, and (ii) except as otherwise expressly provided in the terms of such series, each such 
additional director shall serve until such director’s successor shall have been duly elected and qualified, or until 
such director’s right to hold such office terminates pursuant to said provisions, whichever occurs earlier, subject 
to his or her earlier death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal. Except as otherwise provided by 
the Board in the resolution or resolutions establishing such series, whenever the holders of any series of Preferred 
Stock having such right to elect additional directors are divested of such right pursuant to the provisions of such 
stock, the terms of office of all such additional directors elected by the holders of such stock, or elected to fill any 
vacancies resulting from the death, resignation, disqualification or removal of such additional directors, shall 
forthwith terminate, each such director shall automatically cease to be qualified, and the total authorized number 
of directors of the Corporation shall be reduced accordingly.

(E) Directors of the Corporation need not be elected by written ballot unless the By-laws of the Corporation 
shall so provide.

(F) The Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation as of the close of business on the date this Amended and 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation is first effective, to the extent that such Chief Executive Officer serves as 
Chief Executive Officer and as a director of the Corporation, shall (1) serve as Chairman of the Board, (2) be 
assigned to Class I, (3) be nominated as a Class I director at the annual meeting of stockholders at which his 



initial term expires, and (4) serve as the Chairman of the Nominating and Governance committee of the Board for 
so long as such service is permitted under the applicable rules of the New York Stock Exchange and shall select 
the other members of the Nominating and Governance committee of the Board. At such time as the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chairman is not serving as the Chairman of the Nominating and Governance committee, 
the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board shall select the chairman and other members of the 
Nominating and Governance committee of the Board, subject to the applicable rules of New York Stock 
Exchange.

ARTICLE VII

Section 7.1. Meetings of Stockholders. Any action required or permitted to be taken by the holders of stock of the 
Corporation must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of such holders and may not be effected 
by any consent in writing by such holders unless such action is recommended by all directors of the Corporation 
then in office; provided, however, that any action required or permitted to be taken by the holders of Class B 
Common Stock, voting separately as a class, or, to the extent expressly permitted by the certificate of 
designations relating to one or more series of Preferred Stock, by the holders of such series of Preferred Stock, 
voting separately as a series or separately as a class with one or more other such series, may be taken without a 
meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so 
taken, shall be signed by the holders of outstanding shares of the relevant class or series having not less than the 
minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all 
shares entitled to vote thereon were present and voted and shall be delivered to the Corporation by delivery to its 
registered office in Delaware, its principal place of business, or to an officer or agent of the Corporation having 
custody of the book in which proceedings of meetings of stockholders are recorded. Subject to the rights of the 
holders of any series of Preferred Stock, special meetings of the stockholders of the Corporation may be called 
only by or at the direction of the Board, the Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Corporation.

ARTICLE VIII

Section 8.1. Limited Liability of Directors. No director of the Corporation will have any personal liability to the 
Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except to the 
extent such exemption from liability or limitation thereof is not permitted under the DGCL as the same exists or 
hereafter may be amended. Neither the amendment nor the repeal of this Article VIII shall eliminate or reduce 
the effect thereof in respect of any state of facts existing or act or omission occurring, or any cause of action, suit 
or claim that, but for this Article VIII, would accrue or arise, prior to such amendment or repeal.

ARTICLE IX

Section 9.1. Severability. If any provision or provisions (or any part thereof) of this Amended and Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable as applied to any circumstance for 
any reason whatsoever: (i) the validity, legality and enforceability of such provisions in any other circumstance 
and of the remaining provisions of this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (including, without 
limitation, each portion of any paragraph of this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation containing 
any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable that is not itself held to be invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby; and (ii) to the fullest extent possible, the 
provisions of this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (including, without limitation, each portion 
of any paragraph of this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation containing any such provision held 
to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to permit the Corporation to protect its directors, 
officers, employees and agents from personal liability in respect of their good faith service for the benefit of the 
Corporation to the fullest extent permitted by law.

ARTICLE X

Section 10.1. Forum. Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the 
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive 
forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation, (ii) any action asserting a 



claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any stockholder or any director, officer, or other employee of the 
Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation’s stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising 
pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs 
doctrine. To the fullest extent permitted by law, any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding 
any interest in shares of capital stock of the Corporation shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the 
provisions of this Article X.

ARTICLE XI

Section 11.1. Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Amended 
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation providing a lesser vote, in addition to any other vote expressly required 
by this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the DGCL, the following provisions in this 
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation may be amended, altered, repealed or rescinded, in whole or 
in part, or any provision inconsistent therewith or herewith may be adopted, only by the affirmative vote of the 
holders of at least seventy-five percent (75%) in voting power of all the then-outstanding shares of stock of the 
Corporation entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class: Article V, Article VI, Article VII, Article 
VIII and this Article XI. The other provisions or any new provision of this Amended and Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation may be amended, altered, repealed or rescinded, in whole or in part, by the affirmative vote of the 
holders of at least a majority in voting power of all the then-outstanding shares of stock of the Corporation 
entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class.

ARTICLE XII

Section 12.1. Limited Liability of Officers.  No officer of the Corporation shall have any personal liability to 
the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as an officer, except 
to the extent such exemption from liability or limitation thereof is not permitted under the DGCL, as the same 
exists or hereafter may be amended.  Neither the amendment nor the repeal of this Article XII shall eliminate or 
reduce the effect thereof in respect of any state of facts existing or act or omission occurring, or any cause of 
action, suit or claim that, but for this Article XII, would accrue or arise, prior to such amendment or repeal.

* * *

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has duly executed this Restated Certificate of Incorporation as of 
the date set forth below.

PJT Partners Inc.

By:         /s/ David K.F. Gillis
     Name: David K.F. Gillis

Title: Managing Director, Corporate 
Secretary Date:  July 27, 2023



Exhibit 31.1

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Paul J. Taubman, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023 of PJT Partners Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; 
and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 28, 2023
/s/ Paul J. Taubman
Paul J. Taubman
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Helen T. Meates, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2023 of PJT Partners Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; 
and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: July 28, 2023
/s/ Helen T. Meates
Helen T. Meates
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of PJT Partners Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 
2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Paul J. Taubman, Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations 
of the Company.

Date: July 28, 2023
/s/ Paul J. Taubman
Paul J. Taubman
Chief Executive Officer

* The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the 
Report or as a separate disclosure document.



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of PJT Partners Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 
2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Helen T. Meates, Chief Financial 
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations 
of the Company.

Date: July 28, 2023
/s/ Helen T. Meates
Helen T. Meates
Chief Financial Officer

* The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the 
Report or as a separate disclosure document.


